Filed 06-08-2023

FILED 06-08-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP1399-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MORRIS V. SEATON,

Defendant-Respondent.

ON CERTIFICATION BY THE COURT OF APPEALS FROM A STATE'S APPEAL OF A FINAL ORDER ENTERED IN WAUKESHA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JENNIFER DOROW, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT STATE OF WISCONSIN

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARAH L. BURGUNDY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1071646

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

Morris V. Seaton is charged with sexual assault based on allegations by 17-year-old "Anna" that he forced nonconsensual intercourse with her in her home after they had been drinking together.

The State sought to admit other-acts evidence of uncharged accusations from 17-year-old "Jane," upon whom Seaton forced nonconsensual intercourse after they had been drinking together. The State moved to admit that evidence pursuant to multiple "permissible" purposes, including to bolster Anna's credibility. The circuit court suppressed the evidence.

The State appealed, raising one issue:

Did the circuit court correctly deny the State's request to admit the evidence, based primarily on its view that the different settings (the assault of Jane occurred outdoors while Anna was assaulted indoors) made them too dissimilar to be relevant?

The court of appeals certified the appeal to this Court, asking specifically:

1. In sexual assault prosecutions where consent is the primary issue, are the holdings in *Alsteen* and *Cofield*,¹ suppressing past other-acts of sexual misconduct by the defendant as irrelevant to consent, still good law?

2. Is bolstering a victim's credibility or undermining of the defendant's credibility a "permissible purpose" under the first prong of the *Sullivan* analysis, especially in cases where the greater latitude rule applies?

¹ State v. Alsteen, 108 Wis. 2d 723, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982); State v. Cofield, 2000 WI App 196, 238 Wis. 2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214.

This Court should reverse the decision of the circuit court suppressing the other-acts evidence. It should further hold that *Alsteen* and *Cofield* are no longer good law. And it should hold that bolstering a victim's credibility and undermining a defendant's credibility are permissible standalone purposes to admit other-acts evidence.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Court normally hears oral argument and publishes its cases.

INTRODUCTION

Wisconsin law makes clear that the admission of otheracts evidence is generally favored. So long as the proponent can identify at least one permissible purpose and show that the proposed other-acts are relevant to that purpose, the evidence is admissible unless the opponent can overcome the much-more onerous burden of showing that the probative value is substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice.

The scale tips toward admission even more when, like here, the defendant is charged with sexual assault. In those cases, the greater latitude rule applies to each step of the above analysis to ease admission of other-acts in these often difficult-to-prove credibility contests.²

² Because the oft-used descriptor "he said, she said," for sexualassault cases reflects an outdated bias against the veracity of female victims alleging sexual misconduct, the State uses the phase "credibility contests" in this brief to describe cases in which the primary evidence is witness testimony. See Allison Leotta, I Was a Sex-Crimes Prosecutor. Here's Why 'He Said, She Said' Is a Myth, Time, Oct. 3, 2018, https://time.com/5413814/he-said-she-said-kavanaugh-ford-mitchell/.

Here, the State satisfied its low burdens of showing multiple permissible purposes and strong probative value in the proposed other-acts evidence of Jane's claims that Seaton sexually assaulted her under similar circumstances to what Anna claimed Seaton did to her about a year or two later. Seaton cannot show that that value is substantially outweighed by an unfair risk of prejudice under the circumstances. The circuit court did not soundly apply the law or reach a reasonable decision when it declined to admit the proposed other-acts here. This Court should reverse that decision.

As for the certified questions, the other-acts analyses in *Alsteen* and *Cofield* are inconsistent with significant subsequent case law. Their decisions on other-acts have been effectively overruled. This Court should make clear that those analyses are no longer good law. And finally, credibility has long been held to be a permissible purpose under the first step of *Sullivan*.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Anna's allegations.

In September 2019, "Anna" told Brookfield police that on June 13, 2019, while her mother was working a night shift, she and her older sister invited two male friends to their home, where they all drank alcohol. (R. 2:1–2.) Anna, who was then 17 years old and a Brookfield East High School student, said that one of the men was named Dayveon and that the second man, Seaton, was her friend and a recent Brookfield East alumnus. (R. 2:1–2.)

"[A]fter the four [of them] had been drinking in the apartment for some time," Anna felt tired and drunk and got into her bed; her sister joined her in their shared bedroom. (R. 2:2.) Anna's sister texted Dayveon telling him that he and Seaton could stay as long as they wanted and asking them to lock the door when they left. (R. 2:2.) At some point after that, Anna noticed that Dayveon and Seaton had come into the bedroom. (R. 2:2.) She saw Dayveon (who previously had an intimate relationship with her sister) get into her sister's bed, while Seaton got into Anna's bed with her. (R. 2:2.)

Anna said that her sister and Dayveon left the bedroom. (R. 2:2.) After they left, Seaton remained and touched Anna's thigh, put his fingers inside her, took off her clothes, and then penetrated her with his penis. (R. 2:2.) Anna described her recollection as "foggy" but recalled that Seaton pushed her, that she had her hands on the wall while he was assaulting her, and that "she told [him] to stop because it hurt, but he did not stop." (R. 2:2.) Anna said that she "began to sober up and pushed [Seaton] off of her." (R. 2:2.) Anna said that Seaton then tried to cuddle, but Anna didn't want to be touched and she asked Seaton when he was going to leave. (R. 2:2.) Anna claimed that Seaton asked her why she was so nervous and told her that he "didn't need to have sex again." (R. 2:2.) She said that "[s]ometime later, a girl picked [Seaton] up from the apartment." (R. 2:2.)

Anna told police that she and Seaton never had a sexual relationship in the past, that she had been to his house a handful of times, and that he had visited her apartment over a dozen times. (R. 2:2.) When asked by police who else knew about the assault, Anna said that she told her sister, but her sister disputed that the incident was rape. (R. 2:2–3.) Anna also told two friends and her current boyfriend about the incident. (R. 2:3.)

According to the criminal complaint, within a few days of talking to police, Anna also spoke with a forensic interviewer for the Brookfield Police Department. (R. 2:3.) A summary of that interview in the criminal complaint reflects that Anna reported facts consistent with what she had told police a few days earlier. (R. 2:3–4.)

The charge and "Jane's" allegations

The State charged Seaton with third-degree sexual assault. Wis. Stat. § 940.225(3); (R. 2:1; 10). The State filed a pretrial motion to admit other-acts evidence of allegations that Seaton had sexually assaulted 17-year-old "Jane" in Whitewater in September 2018, less than a year before Anna was assaulted. (R. 21:2.) In its motion, the State indicated that Jane reported the assault in May 2019. (R. 21:2.) Jane, who was then a Brookfield East student, was in Whitewater helping her sister on college move-in day. (R. 21:2.) Jane and a group of others were drinking in her sister's front yard; in that group was Seaton, whom Jane knew from Brookfield East, though he was a year older than her and had already graduated. (R. 21:2.)

Jane said that around 10 p.m., she decided to leave the gathering to look for her cousin. (R. 21:2.) Seaton offered to help her, and the two left on foot. (R. 21:2.) Seaton suggested that they go to a backyard a few houses from Jane's sister's house, where the two sat and talked on the grass "for some time." (R. 21:2.) According to Jane, Seaton then pushed her back onto the grass, held her hands above her head with one hand, and pulled down her pants with the other. (R. 21:2.) Seaton forced intercourse with her despite Jane's telling him to stop; according to Jane, he put an arm over her mouth and told her "that it was fine and to be quiet." (R. 21:2.) When Seaton finished, he got up and walked away. (R. 21:2.) Jane said "that the intercourse was painful and she continued to feel pain [from it] for about a week." (R. 21:2.)

Jane, like Anna, did not immediately report the assault; rather, she reported it in May 2019 when she saw that Seaton "was still coming around the high school" and she "came to realize how much the assault was affecting her." (R. 21:2.) The State, in its motion, offered the other-acts evidence to show Seaton's "motive, identity, plan, opportunity, and modus operandi," through his pattern of choosing younger victims he knew from Brookfield East; isolating himself with them after they had been drinking; initiating intercourse; and refusing to stop when asked. (R. 21:6.) The State argued that Jane's allegations of the circumstances and manner of the assault were similar to what Anna reported, that Jane's allegations were relevant to provide context and support Anna's credibility, and that any gap in time or dissimilarity between the acts was minimal. (R. 21:6–7.) It argued that the greater latitude rule applied and supported admission. (R. 21:7–8.) Finally, it argued that the probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. (R. 21:8–9.)

Seaton's counsel, in response, wrote that Jane's allegations were unsupported and "in serious dispute" and that introduction of her allegations would cause the jury to try Seaton on Jane's claims in addition to Anna's. (R. 36:2.) Seaton argued that other-acts generally should be admitted sparingly, and argued that even if the State was offering the Whitewater incident for a permissible purpose here, it was not relevant and its probative value was substantially outweighed by the risk of unfair prejudice. (R. 36:2–4.) Seaton cited multiple cases in support, though none from within the past 20 years, none recognizing the development and codification of the greater latitude rule, and none applying it to the *Sullivan* analysis. (R. 36:2–6.)

At a hearing, after the State and Seaton presented arguments, the circuit court denied the State's motion. The court stated multiple times that admission of other-acts is "an exception to the general rule" of exclusion. (R. 46:19–20.) It noted that while there were some similarities between the two acts, essentially the fact that the alleged assault of Jane occurred outdoors while Anna was allegedly assaulted indoors rendered the two acts too dissimilar to be relevant or probative of a permissible purpose, even with greater latitude applying. (R. 46:22–27.)

After the court memorialized its decision in a final order, (R. 53), the State appealed as a matter of right under Wis. Stat. § 974.05(1)(d)2. and *State v. Eichman*, 155 Wis. 2d 552, 555–56, 456 N.W.2d 143 (1990). (R. 54.) It argued, as it does again before this Court, that the circuit court wrongly suppressed the evidence based on its reasoning that the settings of the two acts were different.

After the parties submitted briefs to the court of appeals, that court certified the appeal seeking clarification on the status of *Alsteen* and *Cofield*, and on whether credibility is a proper purpose under *Sullivan*. This Court granted the court of appeals' certification request.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court "will uphold a circuit court's evidentiary rulings if it examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, used a demonstrated rational process, and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *Pinczkowski v. Milwaukee Cnty.*, 2005 WI 161, ¶ 15, 286 Wis. 2d 339, 706 N.W.2d 642. "Whether the circuit court applied the proper legal standards, however, presents a question of law subject to independent appellate review." *Id.*; *see also State v. Sarnowski*, 2005 WI App 48, ¶ 11, 280 Wis. 2d 243, 694 N.W.2d 498 ("A trial court's admission or exclusion of evidence is a discretionary decision that we will sustain if it is consistent with the law. We review *de novo* whether that decision comports with legal principles." (citation omitted)).

Moreover, when reviewing a circuit court's determination regarding other-acts evidence, this Court may consider acceptable purposes supporting "admission of evidence other than those contemplated by the circuit court." State v. Hunt, 2003 WI 81, ¶ 52, 263 Wis. 2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771 (citing State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 784–85, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998)). It also independently reviews the record if the circuit court does not provide an explanation or basis for its decision. State v. Alsteen, 108 Wis. 2d 723, 728–29, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982).

Whether and to what extent *Alsteen* and *Cofield* remain good law, and whether a sexual assault victim's credibility is a permissible purpose under the first step of *Sullivan*, are questions of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Walker*, 2008 WI 34, ¶ 13, 308 Wis. 2d 666, 747 N.W.2d 673 ("Interpretation of our own case law presents a question of law that we review de novo.").

ARGUMENT

- I. The circuit court's decision excluding the otheracts evidence did not comport with legal principles.
 - A. Admission of other-acts is favored—not exceptional—particularly when greater latitude applies.

To determine whether to admit evidence of other-acts, courts employ the three-step analytical framework outlined in *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 771–72, 783. The first step asks whether the party has offered the evidence for a permissible purpose under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2). *Id.* at 772. The next step asks whether the evidence is relevant. *Id.*

When the party seeking admission of the other-acts evidence establishes these two steps by a preponderance of the evidence, the burden shifts to the opposing party for the third step of the test. *State v. Marinez*, 2011 WI 12, ¶ 19, 331 Wis. 2d 568, 797 N.W.2d 399. This step asks whether "the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by the risk . . . of unfair prejudice" or confusion to the jury under Wis. Stat. § 904.03. *Id*.

Page 15 of 47

Courts have described section 904.04 as stating a "general rule . . . of exclusion" because its first sentence generally bars other-acts evidence offered for no other purpose than "to prove the criminal disposition of the defendant." State v. Speer, 176 Wis. 2d 1101, 1115, 501 N.W.2d 429 (1993). But that sentence is merely descriptive; it does not reflect a bias or presumption against other-acts admissibility. Id. ("The case law in no way indicates that a circuit court should predispose itself against the admission of other crimes evidence."). Rather, section 904.04 identifies the evidentiary requirements that the parties must satisfy to use other-acts evidence. Far from discouraging admissibility, section 904.04(2) "favors admissibility in the sense that it mandates the exclusion of other crimes evidence in only one instance: when it is offered to prove the propensity of the defendant to commit similar crimes." Speer, 176 Wis. 2d at 1115.

In addition, admissibility is especially favored when the greater latitude rule applies. Greater latitude originated in common law and is a "longstanding principle that in sexual assault cases . . . courts permit a 'greater latitude of proof as to other like occurrences." *State v. Davidson*, 2000 WI 91, ¶ 36, 236 Wis. 2d 537, 613 N.W.2d 606 (citation omitted). This evidentiary rule is codified in Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b)1. and applies when, as here, the charges involve a "serious sex offense." Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b)1.; *State v. Dorsey*, 2018 WI 10, ¶¶ 31–33, 379 Wis. 2d 386, 906 N.W.2d 158. The greater latitude rule, which relaxes the evidentiary burden for admitting other-acts evidence in sexual assault cases, applies to all three steps of the *Sullivan* analysis. *Marinez*, 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 20.

B. Jane's allegations are admissible under a sound analysis of the three *Sullivan* prongs and application of the greater latitude rule.

Two threshold matters guide the *Sullivan* analysis here.

First, the greater latitude rule applies. The State charged Seaton with third-degree sexual assault in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.225(3)(a). Third-degree sexual assault is a "serious sex offense" as defined by Wis. Stat. § 939.615(1)(b) and thus activates the greater latitude rule, which applies to each prong of the *Sullivan* analysis. Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(b)1.

Second, the elements that the State must prove at trial inform the *Sullivan* analysis. To prove third-degree sexual assault, the State must establish that (1) Seaton had sexual intercourse with Anna and (2) Anna did not consent to the intercourse. Wis. JI-Criminal 1218A (2018). Though the statute does not make Seaton's purpose or intent an express element of the crime, it is implicit within the element of proving sexual intercourse. "There is no doubt that sexual assault, involving either sexual contact or sexual intercourse, requires an intentional or volitional act by the perpetrator." *Hunt*, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 60.

Against that backdrop, and as discussed below, the State's proposed other-acts evidence of Jane's allegations satisfies all three prongs of the *Sullivan* test, especially with greater latitude applying.

1. The State offered the evidence for permissible purposes.

The first prong of the *Sullivan* analysis is a low bar for the proponent to satisfy. *Marinez*, 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 25. "Identifying a proper purpose for other-acts evidence is not difficult and is largely meant to develop the framework for the relevancy examination." *State v. Hurley*, 2015 WI 35, ¶ 62, 361 Wis. 2d 529, 861 N.W.2d 174. "The proponent need only identify a relevant proposition that does not depend upon the forbidden inference of character as circumstantial evidence of conduct." *Id.* (citation omitted). In addition, the greater latitude rule operates to increase the ease with which the proponent satisfies the first prong of the *Sullivan* test. *See Dorsey*, 379 Wis. 2d 386, ¶¶ 32–33.

Permissible purposes include "proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2)(a). Other permissible purposes include providing the jury additional context, which can "provide greater information from which the jury could assess [the victim's] credibility." *Marinez*, 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 26.

Here, the State sought to admit testimony from Jane that, around nine months before Seaton allegedly assaulted Anna and when Jane was 17, she encountered Seaton (whom she was familiar with from their time together at Brookfield East) at a gathering; he had reason to know that Jane was drinking alcohol; he eventually found himself alone with her in an isolated spot; he became intimate with her; he ignored her pleas to stop; and he forced intercourse with her. That evidence, the State asserted, (R. 21:6; 46:15), could go to the following purposes:

Opportunity and motive. The other-act involving Jane (given her age, familiarity with Seaton, and intoxicated state) could go to show that Seaton acted on an opportunity to exploit Anna's vulnerability (due to her age, familiarity with him, and intoxicated state). It also could establish Seaton's motive to commit the assault by going into her room, pressing her for sex, and disregarding her requests to stop. See, e.g., Hunt, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 60 (holding that other-acts evidence of similar assault "was properly admitted to prove motive because purpose is an element of sexual assault, and motive and opportunity are relevant to purpose"). Here, Jane's

claims, if believed, can help prove that Seaton targeted another intoxicated 17-year-old acquaintance from high school for sexual gratification.

Identity, plan, intent, and mode of operation. Method or mode of operation is "one of the factors 'that tends to establish the identity of the perpetrator." State v. Hammer, 2000 WI 92, ¶ 24, 236 Wis. 2d 686, 613 N.W.2d 629. It also can relate to issues of non-consent when the other-acts share similarities with the charged acts. See State v. Ziebart, 2003 WI App 258, ¶ 20, 268 Wis. 2d 468, 673 N.W.2d 369. Here, the similarities between the circumstances and allegations of the two assaults (both on 17-year-olds whom Seaton knew from high school, both of whom had been drinking, both of whom Seaton caused or found to be isolated, both of whom he forced intercourse with despite their pleas to stop) show a mode of operation that could prove identity, plan, and intent.

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