FILED 05-07-2024 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## **COURT OF APPEALS**

#### **DISTRICT II**

Case No. 2021AP1399-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

MORRIS V. SEATON,

Defendant-Respondent.

On Appeal from an Order Denying the State's Motion to Admit Evidence Entered in Waukesha County Circuit Court, the Honorable Jennifer Dorow, Presiding

## **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-RESPONDENT**

MELINDA A. SWARTZ State Bar No. 1001536

LAW OFFICE OF MELINDA SWARTZ LLC 5215 North Ironwood Road, Suite 216A Milwaukee, WI 53217 (414) 270-0660

E-mail: melinda@mswartzlegal.com

Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

##

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

and were uncooperative with the prosecution. 2003 WI 81, ¶¶8-14, 58-60, 263 Wis. 2d 1, 666 N.W.2d 771. Hunt's prior acts of drug use, and physical and sexual abuse of his family, was admissible for multiple purposes, including context, opportunity, motive, and to show the victim's state of mind: *Id.*, ¶¶58-60. The other acts evidence provided a context for the victims' and witnesses' fear of Hunt and their pattern of recantations and helped establish the victims' and witnesses' credibility "in light of their recantations." *Id.*, ¶¶58-59.

In *Marinez*, a child sexual assault case, Marinez's prior act of burning the victim's hand was admissible for the purposes of establishing the five-year-old victim's identification of the defendant and to provide a more complete context for the child victim's statements for the jury to assess the victim's credibility. 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶26. In *Dorsey*, a domestic violence case, the court admitted the prior acts for the permissible purposes of intent and motive. 379 Wis. 2d 386, ¶41. The victim's credibility was not itself a permissible purpose under the first *Sullivan* prong, but rather was analyzed under the relevancy prong. *Id.* at ¶50<sup>4</sup>.

Mr. Seaton's case, however, does not involve the contextual complexities of the difficulties presented by child sexual assault victim testimony or the dynamics of recanting family victims and witnesses. Moreover, part of the rationale for the greater latitude rule in child sexual assault cases is because to a normal person the idea of the sexual exploitation of young children is "'so repulsive that it's almost impossible to believe that none but the most deprayed and degenerate would commit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Other cases, predating *Sullivan*, either involve child sexual assault prosecutions and the admissible purpose was the defendant's intent and motive in touching the victim for sexual gratification, an element of the charged offense, *State v. Plymesser*, 172 Wis. 2d 583, 593-94, 493 N.W.2d 367 (1992) and *State v. Fishnick*, 127 Wis. 2d 247, 260, 378 N.W.2d 272 (1985), do not address the permissible purpose for the admission of evidence, *State v. C.V.C.*, 153 Wis. 2d 145, 160-62, 450 N.W.2d 463 (Ct. App. 1989) and *State v. Parr*, 182 Wis. 2d 349, 360, 513 N.W.2d 647 (Ct. App. 1994), or do not include an analysis under §904.04(2), *State v. Schaller*, 199 Wis. 2d 23, 40-43, 544 N.W.2d 247 (Ct. App. 1995) and *Proper v. State*, 85 Wis. 615, 55 N.W.2d 1035 (1893).

Case 2021AP001399 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-07-2024 Page 27 of 38

such an act.' "Davidson, 236 Wis. 2d 537, ¶42 (quoting State v. Friedrich, 135 Wis. 2d 1, 27-28, 398 NW.2d 763 (1987)). That rationale, however, does not apply to Mr. Seaton's case involving two older teenagers engaging in sexual intercourse in one of their bedrooms.

Therefore, solely bolstering Anna's credibility itself is not a permissible purpose in this case and the circuit court's decision so finding was a reasonable exercise of its discretion.

Any argument that the court failed to apply the correct legal standard fails. Contrary to the State's argument, the court did not approach its decision with an incorrect or unsound view requiring the State to prove why an exception to the rule of exclusion exists. The court was referring to the statutory language that other acts evidence is not admissible except for the enumerated exceptions and stated that greater latitude applied to the admission of other acts evidence. The prosecutor later conceded that the court's analysis of other acts evidence being an exception to the rule of admission. The prosecutor stated it "agreed with the court's analysis of other acts, that it is an exception to the rule". (46:13) It then argued that the application of greater latitude rule makes the admission of other acts in serious sex offenses not an exception to the rule. (46:13-14) Additionally, the State, as the proponent of the evidence, has the burden of proving the evidence is admissible for a permissive purpose.

Further, the State's citation to language in *Marinez* regarding a bias generally towards admissibility of other acts evidence is misplaced. App. Br. 24-25. The *Marinez* court was discussing the bias toward admissibility implicit in the language of the third prong of the *Sullivan* analysis. 331 Wis. 2d 568, ¶41.

Nor did the court demonstrate a bias against the admission of other acts evidence or preemptively believe that Mr. Seaton would be prejudiced by the admission of Jane's allegations. Rather, the court took seriously its duty to ensure

Case 2021AP001399 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-07-2024 Page 28 of 38

that the other acts evidence met each step of the *Sullivan* test. After finding that the first step, permissible purpose, was not met, the court did not decide the other two prongs of the test.

The circuit court's evidentiary decision was a quintessential judgment call that appellate courts rely on circuit courts to make every day. *See Johnson*, 397 Wis. 2d 633, ¶36. Its decision excluding the other acts evidence was not a decision that no reasonable judge could make.

3. The State forfeited any argument that motive, intent, and opportunity are permissible purposes by not so arguing in the circuit court, and in any event, these arguments fail on the merits.

The State argues before this court now that Jane's allegations meet the permissible purposes of intent, motive, and opportunity. However, the State forfeited these arguments on appeal by not arguing these purposes in the Circuit Court. *See Northbrook Wisconsin, LLC v. City of Niagara*, 2014 WI App 22, ¶20, 352 Wis. 2d 657, 843 N.W.2d 851 ("Arguments raised for the first time on appeal are generally deemed forfeited.") The forfeiture rule's purpose is to "enable the Circuit Court to avoid or correct any error with minimal disruption of the judicial process, eliminating the need for appeal." *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612 (citation omitted).

In any event, if arguendo, despite the State's forfeiture, this Court chooses to address these arguments, the State's arguments that each of these were permissible purposes for the admission of Jane's evidence fail on the merits:

*Intent*. Intent is not a permissible purpose because intent is not an issue in this case. A defendant's prior act of sexual intercourse is not admissible to show intent in a case of sexual intercourse because intent is not an element of the crime. *See State v. Cofield*, 2000 WI App 196, ¶¶1-5,11, 238 Wis. 2d 467, 618 N.W.2d 214. (noting, in a case of sexual assault by acts of sexual intercourse, that intent is

Case 2021AP001399 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-07-2024 Page 29 of 38

not an element of the charged offense) Intent is not an element of Mr. Seaton's charged offense. Mr. Seaton is charged with third degree sexual assault which can be committed by two different ways -- either engaging in "sexual intercourse" with the victim or by having "sexual contact" with them -- in either case without their consent. See Wis. Stat. §940.225(3)(a) and (b). Mr. Seaton is charged with the "sexual intercourse" alternative pursuant to §940.225(3)(a). Sexual intercourse is defined by several specific acts but requires no specific intent or purpose. See Wis. Stat. §940.225(5)(c). On the other hand, "sexual contact" requires the State to prove that a defendant engaged in "intentional touching" or "intentional" ejaculation or emission of feces or urine, for one of several purposes. See Wis. Stat. §940.225(5)(b).

The State admits that Mr. Seaton's intent is not an express element of his charged crime. App. Br. at 15. Nevertheless, the State argues that that his intent is an implicit element for proving sexual intercourse. *Id.* The State is wrong.

Contrary to the State's argument<sup>5</sup>, a defendant's intent to achieve sexual arousal or gratification is not an element in all sexual assault cases nor are a defendant's motive and intent facts of consequence in all sexual assault cases. While a defendant's intent, motive, and purpose are always at issue in a sexual contact sexual assault prosecution, the same is not true for a sexual intercourse sexual assault prosecution. This is because sexual contact requires "intentional" touching for a specific "purpose." In a sexual contact sexual assault case, a defendant may have, or claim to have, accidently or inadvertently touched the victim's intimate parts, perhaps, for example, when changing a diaper. However, because one cannot have accidentally had sexual intercourse with another person, a defendant's intent, motive, and purpose are not implicit elements, nor facts of consequence, for proving sexual intercourse in a sexual assault case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> App. Br. at 19.

Case 2021AP001399 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-07-2024 Page 30 of 38

The State's reliance on language from *Hunt* that sexual assault either by sexual contact or sexual intercourse requires an intentional or volitional act is misplaced. App. Br. at 15. (citing *Hunt*, 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶60) The language in *Hunt* is overly broad and inartful, because, as explained above, unlike sexual contact, sexual intercourse does not require an intentional act. Moreover, *Hunt* itself uses only sexual contact as an example immediately following this overly broad statement. *See* 263 Wis. 2d 1, ¶60.

The State's reliance on language in *Hurley* is also misplaced. First, *Hurley* relies on the same overly broad language in *Hunt* explained above. *See* 361 Wis. 2d 529, ¶73. Second, the State omits key facts from *Hurley*. Hurley's motive to achieve sexual arousal or gratification was an element of his charged crime. *Id.*, ¶74. Hurley was charged with repeated sexual assaults of a child involving sexual contact for touching his stepdaughter when she was between 6-11 years old. *Id.*, ¶¶13-17, 38.

*Motive*. Motive is not a permissible purpose because motive is not an issue in his case. As explained above, Mr. Seaton is charged with third degree sexual assault by "sexual intercourse" which requires no specific intent or purpose. *See* Wis. Stat. §940.225(5)(c). A defendant's purpose for committing the sexual assault is relevant when that purpose is an element of the crime, such as sexual assault by sexual contact. *See Plymesser*, 172 Wis. 2d at 593; *see also*, *State v. Friedrich*, 135 Wis. 2d 1, 22, 398 N.W.2d 763 (1987).

The State's current assertion that Mr. Seaton had the intent, motive, and purpose to exert power and control over Anna to have sexual intercourse and to achieve sexual gratification from her protests and resistance fails. First, any intent or motive to achieve sexual gratification from Anna's resistance is not, as argued above, an element of Mr. Seaton's charged offense. Moreover, this newly claimed factual spin to try to meet the permissive purpose of intent and/or motive was not

Case 2021AP001399 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-07-2024 Page 31 of 38

argued in the circuit court. The State cannot now argue that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion on the basis of this current argument.

*Opportunity*. Opportunity is not a permissible purpose for the admission of Jane's accusation. McCormick on Evidence has explained opportunity in the context of other act evidence as follows:

Uncharged crimes can be admissible to establish opportunity[] by demonstrating that defendant had access to or was present at the scene of the crime[] or possessed certain distinctive or unusual skills or abilities employed in the commission of the crime charged.

McCormick on Evid. § 190.6 (8th ed.) (citations and footnotes omitted)

Here, Jane's allegations themselves occurring months earlier in a different county than the charged crime do not place Mr. Seaton near or in Anna's bedroom or give him access to Anna's bedroom. Nor do her allegations demonstrate that Mr. Seaton had unusual skills or distinctive abilities used to commit the crime charged. The State's argument that Jane's allegations could show that Mr. Seaton acted on an opportunity to isolate Anna when she was drunk to force sexual intercourse fails as it is not the nature of opportunity evidence for this purpose. This is really an assertion that Mr. Seaton has the propensity to have nonconsensual sexual intercourse. Moreover, the State's overall attempt to link Mr. Seaton's alleged prior incident to an acceptable statutory purpose is a thinly veiled endorsement of the unrestricted use of propensity evidence in sexual assault cases.

The circuit court's decision to exclude the other acts evidence was a proper exercise of its discretion. Despite the State's contentions, the circuit court did what the law requires. In making its decision, in addition to the considering the parties' written and oral arguments, the court reviewed the case law, the applicable statute, the criminal complaint and the proffered facts of the other uncharged act and made

Case 2021AP001399 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-07-2024 Page 32 of 38

a reasonable decision. It applied the correct statute, the *Sullivan* test along with the greater latitude rule, and reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach using a demonstrated, rational process. The record shows that there is a reasonable basis for the court's decision. That decision should be given great deference by this court and be affirmed.

II. The circuit court's decision excluding the other acts evidence must be affirmed because *State v. Alsteen* bars the admission of prior acts of nonconsensual sexual intercourse with a different person, in a sexual assault case where consent is the only issue at trial and the evidence is not relevant.

Because the State has not proven a permissible purpose for the admission of this evidence, the court does not need to address this issue.

If, however, this court concludes that the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in finding that the other act evidence did not meet a permissible purpose, Jane's accusations must still be excluded because they are barred by controlling Wisconsin Supreme Court law. Further, the State cannot meet its burden of proving that Jane's accusations meet the two relevancy requirements of Wis. Stat. §904.01.

Relevant evidence defined in §904.01 has two components: 1) whether the evidence relates to a fact of consequence to the determination of the action; and 2) whether the evidence has a tendency to make that consequential fact more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. *Sullivan*, 216 Wis. 2d at 785-786.

First, as noted above, Mr. Seaton's defense will be that Anna consented to the sexual intercourse. Given his consent defense, controlling Wisconsin Supreme Court case law bars the admission of Jane's testimony on the issue of Anna's consent. In *State v. Alsteen*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court stated that past acts of nonconsensual sexual intercourse cannot be introduced to prove lack of consent in

Case 2021AP001399 Brief of Respondent Filed 05-07-2024 Page 33 of 38

the current offense. 108 Wis. 2d 723, 730, 324 N.W.2d 426 (1982). In *Alsteen*, because Alsteen admitted having sexual intercourse with the complainant, "the only issue was whether [the complainant] consented to the act." *Id.* The *Alsteen* court explained: "Consent is unique to the individual." *Id.* The fact that one complainant may have been assaulted does not tend to prove that another individual would never consent to sexual intercourse with the defendant. *Id.* The *Alsteen* decision was based on a finding that the prior act was not relevant under 904.01. *Id.* at 729-731. A pre-Sullivan framework case, it did not reach the issue of whether the other act evidence met a permissible purpose under Wis. Stat. § 904.04(2). See Id.

This court followed *Alsteen* in *Cofield*. As in *Alsteen*, the defendant claimed that sexual intercourse was consensual. Relying on *Alsteen*, the *Cofield* court reversed the trial court's admission of an earlier non-consensual act. 238 Wis. 2d 467, ¶10. The *Cofield* court concluded that the prior acts were not admissible for several purposes and that "the prior acts were improper propensity evidence used to prove that Cofield acted in conformity with his prior conviction." *Id.*, ¶¶10-14.

Contrary to the State's suggestion, the holdings in *Alsteen* or *Cofield* have not been implicitly overruled or rendered moot by the greater latitude rule. Only the Wisconsin Supreme Court can overrule its own prior cases and court of appeals caselaw. *Cook v. Cook*, Wis. 2d 166, 189-90, 560 N.W.2d 246 (1997). The Wisconsin Supreme Court has not overruled *Alsteen* or *Cofield*.

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